PROCEEDINGS OF THE

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009 — 1:30 p.m.
Grand Forks City Hall Conference Room A-101

CALL TO ORDER

Earl Haugen, Chairman, called the June 10" 2009, meeting of the MPO Technical Advisory
Committee to order at 1:35 p.m.

CALL OF ROLL

On a Call of Roll the following members were present: Joe McKinnon, MNDOT-Bemidji; Jane
Williams, Grand Forks Traffic Engineer; Nancy Ellis, East Grand Forks Planner; Stacey Hanson,
NDDOT-Bismarck; Dale Bergman, Superintendent for Cities Area Transit; and Greg Boppre,
EGF Consulting Engineer, Dean Rau, Assistant Grand Forks City Engineer; Les Noehre,
NDDOT-Grand Forks; and Rich Sanders, Polk County Engineer.

Guests present were: Mark Aubol, Grand Forks Street Superintendent; Jason Baker, A.T.A.C;
and Shawn Birst, A.T.A.C.

Staff present were: Earl Haugen, GF/EGF MPO Executive Director; Teri Kouba, GF/EGF MPO
Planner; Kristen Benidt, GF/EGF MPO Intern; and Peggy McNelis, GF/EGF MPO Executive
Assistant.

DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM

A quorum was present.

INTRODUCTIONS

Haugen requested that, because we have some new people here today, would everyone please
give a brief introduction of themselves.

MATTER OF APPROVAL OF THE MAY 13,2009, MINUTES OF THE TECHNICAL
ADVISORY COMMITTEE

MOVED BY ELLIS, SECONDED BY BOPPRE, TO APPROVE THE MAY 13™, 2009,
MINUTES OF THE TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE, AS SUBMITTED.

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

MATTER OF 2009 T.I.P. AMENDMENT

Haugen reported that the project specifications were included in the staff report in your packets.
He explained that the project involves reconstruction/pavement repairs on DeMers Avenue
between Washington Street and North 5™ Street, excluding the DeMers Avenue Skyway Bridge
which is currently being worked on right now. He stated that the project is estimated to cost
$2,000,000, with $1,600,000 in federal monies. He said that the project itself will not be done
until 2010, but because there are some preliminary engineering issues that need to be done in
2009, an amendment to include it in 2009 is required.

Haugen commented that we did advertise that there was an opportunity to submit written
comments until noon today, as well as the fact that a public hearing would be held at today’s
meeting. He stated that no comments were received, and there doesn’t appear to be anyone from
the public present.

Haugen opened the public hearing. There was no one present for discussion. Haugen closed the
public hearing. He stated that staff does recommend the Technical Advisory Committee forward
a recommendation to the MPO Executive Policy Board to approve the 2009 T.I.P. amendment,
as submitted.

MOVED BY HANSON, SECONDED BY WILLIAMS, TO FORWARD A
RECOMMENDATION TO THE MPO EXECUTIVE POLICY BOARD THAT THEY
APPROVE THE FY 2009-2012 T.1.P. AMENDMENT, AS SUBMITTED.

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.

MATTER OF DISCUSSION ON BRIDGE CLOSURE PLAN

Haugen reported that a brief discussion was held on this item at last month’s meeting,
specifically about some issues that arose during our last flood fight, with the closure of “too”
many bridges. He commented that this was really our first real opportunity to implement the
Traffic Closure Management Plan that A.T.A.C. assisted us in developing, and we would now
like to take some time to review some of the good things, as well as the bad things, that occurred
during the process, in order to try to make it even better.

Haugen referred to the packet, and pointed out that a copy of an e-mail he received from Les
Noehre, which actually prompted having this issue on the agenda, was included, as were some
pages from the Bridge Management document, and specifically what happens when the Point,
the Louie Murray, and the Sorlie Bridges are all closed, as was the case this year. He stated that
Shawn Birst and Jason Baker, who both worked on the document, are here today to assist us with
this process.

Birst commented that they worked on this project about a year and a half ago, and this is the first
time that a lot of the strategies were used, so it was a good test of the plan. He said that they are



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

basically here today to get feedback from everyone to see what was used, what worked, what
didn’t, and what needs to be updated to make the plan better.

Birst stated that the document, or the study, had three main areas. He said that, in order to get
consensus on closures on both sides they first tried to determine what the action levels or trigger
elevations would need to be for certain things to start occurring. He stated that once a trigger
was realized, they then helped identify detour routes that needed to go into place in order to
facilitate smooth movement of traffic throughout both communities, as well as the signage
required to inform the public of said detours, so there were several different components to the
plan. He pointed out that they did this for both flooding and maintenance events. He added that
once the detours were in place, they also helped develop signal-timing plans to accommodate
traffic, and help facilitate traffic movement.

Mr. Birst had a power point presentation illustrating various portions of the Traffic Closure
Management Plan. He reported that they are here today to try to get input from everyone as to
what they feel worked, what didn’t work, and what they think could be done to alleviate some of
the issues and concerns that resulted during this past flood event.

Birst asked for discussion on action levels first, after which they could then move on to closures
or detour routes, and finally timing.

Boppre reported that East Grand Forks did use the document quite a bit during their flood
meetings, as did MNDOT. He commented that the action level shown for the Point Bridge is
actually East Grand Forks’ elevation level, but Grand Forks actually closed their side before East
Grand Forks did because their sill level is lower, which they had no problem with at all, but they
may want to look at changing that elevation.

Boppre stated that as far as the Sorlie Bridge is concerned, a lot of what determines when it is
reopened after an event is dictated more by politics than by elevation. He said that both sides of
the river get a lot of pressure to get it opened as soon as possible because it does impact a lot of
businesses on both sides. He added that they did work with Roger Hjelle, whom he would think
was in touch with Mr. Noehre during the process as well. Noehre commented that the reopening
of the Sorlie is somewhat dictated by politics, but no matter how much political pressure one has
you still have make sure it is safe. Boppre responded that that is what they told their political
entities, and they, in-fact, did not open it until they had concurrence from MNDOT Engineers, so
for the most part he feels the plan worked well.

Birst asked if it was felt that the action level for the Point Bridge should be lowered slightly.
Aubol responded that he would think it could remain as it is, but added that we all need to be
aware that every flood event is unique, and will need to be handled as such. He explained that
with the flood prediction this past spring, and knowing that it takes about twelve hours to put the
Point Bridge closure logs in place, it just made sense to get that closure in as soon as possible to
allow for his staff to be able to concentrate on other areas of concern, so, again, we need to be



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

flexible when dealing with bridge closures as we are at the mercy of the water, and it all takes
time to get it done.

Noehre commented that the ultimate goal is to work to try to get the flood and the closure plans
to coincide as much as possible, so now that we have been through an event we maybe do need
to go back and look at it and see what might need to be adjusted to ensure the plans are as
accurate as possible. Boppre agreed, adding, however, that it is a plan, and we will need to
adjust it when necessary.

Haugen stated that his concern is that we went through the process of identifying all those
different elevations because they are different on each side of the river, so we came up with the
numbers we agreed we would use as a guideline for both sides when determining whether or not
to close a structure, but when the media talked numbers during this past flood fight, none of
these numbers were even used. Boppre commented that he doesn’t know where they got their
information, but he knows that when Roger Hjelle was here he used the numbers in our plan.
Haugen said, then, that because most of those present here today were included in the flood
meetings, where these numbers should have been used, he would request that they let him know
if any adjustments need to be made. Boppre stated that some of the inaccurate numbers used by
the media may have been gotten off the National Weather Service website.

Noehre asked if the action level shown for the Kennedy is correct, as he thought they had
adjusted it to 54-feet because of the dikes that were constructed on the East Grand Forks side.
Rau responded that the number shown for the Kennedy was the number agreed on, but it was
increased slightly after dikes were placed on the East Grand Forks side. Birst asked when that
change occurred, if it was done after this document was completed. Boppre responded that it
was, that because we needed to keep the Kennedy open at all costs, East Grand Forks decided to
place small berms on their side, which allowed for the river level to be raised from the number
shown in the plan. Noehre stated that he would think that the placement of berms on the East
Grand Forks side will most likely be something that would be done again if warranted. Haugen
asked if this means the numbers for the Kennedy should be adjusted then. Noehre responded
that he would think they should be.

Boppre explained that in 2006 the City of East Grand Forks put temporary berms up at the Louie
Murray Bridge, however they then they removed them and didn’t put them back up for this past
flood event. He stated that they will most likely put them up in the future in order to keep that
bridge open as long as possible as well. Ellis asked if there should be a different action levels for
this bridge with berms, and one without. Boppre stated that it sounded like the berms would be
placed permanently, so the action level should be adjusted to accommodate that change.

Noehre commented that issue he raised in his e-mail actually pertained to the re-opening of the
Sorlie. He stated that in 2006 he found out the Sorlie was going to be opened via the media, and
then again this past year the City of Grand Forks, and Roger Hjelle, both found out it was re-
opening via the media. Boppre said that he isn’t sure what happened, but he does know that both



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

Al Grasser and Mark Walker were aware that they were planning on opening that bridge on
Thursday afternoon instead of Friday morning.

Boppre stated that Roger Hjelle came and looked at the bridge Thursday afternoon and gave
verbal approval to open it at that time. He said that he also asked Mr. Hjelle for an e-mail stating
that it was okay to open the bridge as well, and he does have a copy of that at the office. Noehre
agreed that he talked to Mr. Hjelle as well, and was aware that it passed inspection, but he was
not notified that it was going to be opened earlier than Friday morning, as was originally agreed
upon, and that is his point. He added that he also talked to Mr. Hjelle right after he found out it
had opened, and his response was “what”, and it’s not that he was upset, but he wasn’t aware of
the time change either. Boppre responded that when he talked to Mr. Grasser and Mr. Walker
their response was that it was his call, so whatever the communication error was, it is just
something that needs to get fixed. Noehre agreed, adding that as the owner of the bridge it
would be nice to be informed of changes before they occur. Boppre stated, however, that it isn’t
his call, he is in Minnesota not North Dakota, so if the Grand Forks Engineering Department
doesn’t get in touch with NDDOT, that isn’t his issue. Noehre responded that we should all be
working together on this. Boppre agreed, but added that his contacts were Mr. Grasser and Mr.
Walker, and if they don’t contact others, he has no control over that.

Aubol reported that he met with Mr. Hjelle on the bridge that day, and he assumed that someone
would be contacting the NDDOT office, but in the future, since his department is responsible for
removing the closures, he will directly call the NDDOT office before they begin. He requested
that all titles and numbers be included in the plan in order for communication to occur with the
correct people during future events.

Birst said that it is his understanding that each city has its own flood plan, and asked if these
triggers could be added to those plans. Aubol commented that this is a great plan, but to be able
to follow the plan as it is written he would need about $30,000 for signage, which he simply
doesn’t have right now, and although he hopes to be able to do it over time, it will probably take
ten to twelve years. Rau reported that the action levels are included in the City of Grand Forks’
plan. Aubol agreed, adding that they have, for each action level, the elevations at which the road
closures are put up, but they could also include a reference to pertaining pages in the Traffic
Management Plan as well. Birst stated that they understood that when an event such as this past
flood occurred, there would be a lot of signage going up, but they also understand that when an
event such as that does occur people aren’t necessarily going to be worring about travel
information because they are fighting a flood, but it was felt that when there was the time and
resources available, the signage would be implemented at that time.

Aubol commented that they did work with the DOT, who helped a lot with the initial closing of
the Sorlie, and who did put up a message sign stating that the Sorlie was closed and that an
alternative route should be taken, but there were a lot of other traffic issues that occurred once
the Louie Murray Bridge closed, specifically along Gateway Drive. He explained what some of
those issues were, and suggested that maybe the plan should briefly address some of them as
well.



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

Boppre stated that, again, these bridge closures are road closures that are included in their action
plan, but it might be good to include a little sub-message requiring that the DOTs be contacted
both for the closing and re-opening of these bridges. He added that East Grand Forks has the
same issue as Grand Forks in terms of signage, they simply can’t afford to implement all the
signage needed for events such as this. He said, however, that the DOT did help them a lot as
well, by putting up a lot of the closures, and the signage required. He added that they actually
had Highway Patrolman directing traffic out on Highway 2, as that area had quite the traffic
problem once the Louie Murray closed. He stated that basically this is all a work in progress,
and things will need to be adjusted as we go as there is not perfect plan for every event, and we
need to be flexible.

Williams said that one thing that would help, and she knows that it isn’t affordable, but if there
were some way we could set up a camera so people could see the water levels on-line so they
wouldn’t feel the need to drive over the bridge, that would be great. She explained that she
watched one day and saw that a huge amount of the traffic was caused by people wanting to see
the water, and they would go over the bridge, turn around and come back, which, of course,
made the traffic problem that already existed, worse.

Noehre commented that in terms of signal timing, the only thing he witnessed, and this occurred
during peak hours, was that initially people were frustrated, and there were cars backed up all the
way through the intersection, but as time went on it seemed as though people got used to it and it
appeared that things were working pretty well under the circumstances. Williams stated that by
that time we probably got rid of some of the people that were just driving back and forth, but
those first few days it was a problem. Boppre commented that the first day they built the berms
on Highway 2 was pretty bad. Ellis stated that she knows that East Grand Forks had to have
additional enforcement at the corner of Highway 2 and 220 because of people not wanting to
wait, and then once the light changed it left them blocking the intersection, which, of course
caused traffic to build up in the other directions. She suggested that they may want to put a note
in about maybe wanting to add some additional enforcement at that intersection should it be
warranted in the future.

Ellis asked if the plan addresses signal timing on Business 2, at 4™ and 2™, because once the
Point Bridge closes the traffic there increases, and then when 4™ closes then it increases even
more. Birst responded it does not. Ellis suggested that they may want to do that. Williams
added that when it gets to the point when only the Kennedy Bridge is open, we need to run a
much longer signal time on Highway 2, so that should be adjusted in the plan.

Birst stated, then, that it appears that they need to make several adjustments to the plan to
address both signal timing and detour issues/changes.

Discussion on various detour issues/concerns, possible solutions, and the changes required to the
plan ensued.



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

Sanders asked if the bridge elevations on County Road 72, the Mallory Bridge, should be added
to the plan in the event we ever have an event such as that in 1997. Boppre responded that it
could be added, but the City of East Grand Forks did include it on their website. He stated that
they were getting constant calls from a local radio station that wanted that information as they
have a tower in the area, so the City actually put the information on their website, as well as the
detour information, to try to alleviate some of the calls. He added that in terms of traffic control,
the locals that know the shortcuts, you can put up all the signage you want but they will go
around them, so we can try to plan for every feasible possibility, but it just isn’t going to happen.

Birst stated that it appears that there could be several modification made to the plan. He asked if
the committee wanted to go over all the details at this time, or do they want to just make a list
and let them know what they would like to see done later. Haugen commented that the question
is if we go through the exercise of updating the plan, would it be referenced, was it referenced
during this past flood event, because it if was, and if it will it would make sense to update it,
however, if it wasn’t, or won’t be referenced it wouldn’t make sense to go through the expense
and resources to update it. Boppre responded that East Grand Forks did reference it during this
past event. He stated, however, that he might suggest that everyone make a list of things they
feel might be included or changed in the plan, as it is a work in progress. Rau said that the City
of Grand Forks used the elevations listed for the action plans, and they used most of what was
suggested for the detour routes, although they didn’t do all the signage suggested, so he would
say they used quite a bit of what was in the plan.

Haugen asked, then, if everyone would come to the next Technical Advisory Committee meeting
with a list of modifications they would like to see done to the plan, they will consider doing so.

Boppre asked if this was something the Technical Advisory Committee could do, or do we need
to have A.T.A.C. do it. Haugen responded that we can do a lot of it, but if you want to make
signal-timing changes we may want them to take care of it. Williams commented that the City of
Grand Forks timing changes will be done with they do the City-wide ones, so that isn’t an issue
that needs to be addressed in this plan. Noehre asked if they would be doing timing plans for all
scenarios. Williams responded that they would not. She explained that they found that they only
needed one for all of them.

Birst stated that he would e-mail a site where people can download the plan for review.

MATTER OF DRAFT A.T.A.C. SCHOOL SAFETY STUDY

Haugen reported that this study consisted of looking at safety issues for West Elementary, Lewis
& Clark Elementary in Grand Forks; and New Heights Elementary in East Grand Forks.

Ellis commented that they just completed a meeting with representatives from the three schools,
and A.T.A.C., to review the draft document for recommendations. She referred to the staff
report and pointed out that the objective of this study was to look at pedestrian safety, review the
working characteristics, traffic control pavement markings around the schools, how the traffic



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

actually circulates, and to have A.T.A.C. provide both long and short-term improvements for
each school.

Ellis distributed copies of the sign changes, and the geometric recommendations made to help
the circulation and drop-off/pick-up of students at each school.

Baker commented that they did get some good feedback from the meeting with school
representatives last week. He stated that they discussed both the short-term and long-term
recommendations. He explained that the short-term recommendations mostly dealt with signage;
while the long-term recommendations included bus loading, pedestrian pickup, staff parking, and
access issues. He stated that the discussion did result in the need for some changes/adjustments
needing to be made to the document.

Ellis reported that the figures that show the geometric changes will be adjusted to remove some
crosswalks that they were unable to get removed in time for this meeting. She added that they
typically have Principals, the Superintendent and the Assistant Superintendent of Schools, the
City Traffic Engineers, Parent Teacher Presidents, Safe Kids Personnel, and staff attending these
meetings.

Ellis stated that a final document will be presented at the next Technical Advisory Committee
meeting for approval.

Haugen commented that these studies have resulted in a lot of good things, with one of the
biggest being the implementation of crossing guards at several of the Grand Forks schools. He
added that this time, with the Stimulus Package, the schools will be receiving additional funding
that can be used to implement a lot of the on-site improvements, so they have a better chance of
being done than they would have without the additional funding being made available.

Information only.

MATTER OF PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT CONDITION RATING UPDATE

Haugen reported that this item was presented to the MPO Executive Policy Board at their May
meeting asking that they approve a contract with GoodPointe to update the Pavement
Management Condition Rating, but we received a lot of “push-back” so staff placed it on the
Technical Advisory Committee agenda to get them involved prior to the MPO Executive Policy
Board’s June 17"

Kouba stated that basically the MPO Executive Policy Board tabled this, wondering if it was
monetarily necessary, and asked that both Grand Forks and East Grand Forks engineering staff
be present to answer their questions about it more thoroughly.

Boppre commented that he talked to Ms. Kouba yesterday, and explained that when the 2003
study was done the City of East Grand Forks had a different Public Works Superintendent in



PROCEEDINGS OF THE
TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Wednesday, June 10", 2009

place, and he isn’t sure that the necessary people were trained on this, so it simply didn’t get used
as it should have. He added that Brad Bail, and himself talked about this yesterday, and they
would be in agreement with doing it as long as they can have a copy of the software, and get the
necessary training to utilize it.

Haugen reported that three licenses are purchased for this software, one for the City of East
Grand Forks, one for the City of Grand Forks, and one for the MPO. He added that staff is
bringing this issue to this meeting to request assistance from the committee in convincing the
MPO Executive Policy Board that this is worthwhile activity. Boppre responded that he would
contact the East Grand Forks Executive Policy Board members about this. He stated that he
feels it would be beneficial, but only if the proper training is offered.

Sanders explained what the project consists of, and what the data can be used for. He stated that
he has some information explaining this process, and how it can be used, that he will send to Ms.

Kouba for distribution to the Executive Policy Board members.

Noehre commented that, while NDDOT uses a somewhat different program, it is similar to this
and it is very useful, so he would recommend doing this.

OTHER BUSINESS

None.

ADJOURNMENT

MOVED BY NOEHRE, SECONDED BY SANDERS, TO ADJOURN THE JUNE 10™, 2009
MEETING OF THE TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE AT 2:50 P.M.

MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.
Respectfully submitted by,

Peggy McNelis, Executive Assistant



	CALL TO ORDER
	CALL OF ROLL
	DETERMINATION OF A QUORUM
	INTRODUCTIONS


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000500044004600206587686353ef901a8fc7684c976262535370673a548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200208fdb884c9ad88d2891cf62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef653ef5728684c9762537088686a5f548c002000700072006f006f00660065007200204e0a73725f979ad854c18cea7684521753706548679c300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020b370c2a4d06cd0d10020d504b9b0d1300020bc0f0020ad50c815ae30c5d0c11c0020ace0d488c9c8b85c0020c778c1c4d560002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken voor kwaliteitsafdrukken op desktopprinters en proofers. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents for quality printing on desktop printers and proofers.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /NoConversion
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /NA
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


